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Author’s Note



FOR DRAMA, CONTROVERSY, and historical impact, the life of John Brown exceeds that of any other private citizen of the United States. If American patriotism is defined as unqualified commitment to the nation’s founding religious and political ideals—a commitment both to live by them and to die for them—then Brown may count as one of America’s first patriots, though he was not born until 1800 and was hanged for treason in 1859. Many nineteenth-century Americans, white and black, revered him; many others despised him. In the twentieth century, however, most academic historians sought to diminish Brown’s importance, reducing him to a caricature or a footnote in the civic imaginations of ordinary Americans.

“John Brown is the stone in the historians’ shoe,” novelist and essayist Truman Nelson wrote in The Nation in 1957, a century after Brown set in motion his campaign to free four million slaves—a campaign that, from a military standpoint, began and ended with his raid on the U.S. arsenal at Harpers Ferry at the head of an interracial army of twenty-one men and boys. “They cannot ignore him, but they try to choke him off in defaming parentheses.” Nelson’s image of the historians’ Brown as a stone—uncomfortable, immovable, unassimilated—echoes Brown’s portrayal in Stephen Vincent Benét’s 1928 Pulitzer-Prize-winning poem, John Brown’s Body, and anticipates Brown’s 1979 representation by biographer Stephen Oates. “He was a stone. / A stone eroded to a cutting edge,” Benét writes of his title character. He was “God’s stone in the pool of slavery,” Oates echoes.

John Brown was not a stone but a man of deep, varied, and sometimes conflicting capacities: for reason and faith, practicality and idealism, harshness and tenderness, isolation and intimacy, blindness, vision, transformation. He was a man, most significantly, who understood race, religion, and revolution—as these tangled legacies of America’s early history had come down to his generation—to be the shaping conditions of his life and the nation’s life: and to confer inescapable demands on both. In my epilogue, “The Unfinished American Revolution,” I offer some reasons why Civil War historians have so often been hobbled by Brown and have scaled down the irritant to pebble-size dimensions by labeling him a fanatic or a failure. The aim of this book, however, is not to give reasons but to tell the timely true story of Brown’s life, his extraordinary family and friendships, and his country.

Since the 1970s, Brown’s portrait has been better painted and his place in American history reassessed in several valuable biographies and one fine novel, Russell Banks’s Cloudsplitter. But historical novels select episodes and invent or alter characters and circumstances to achieve their creative designs, while scholarly convention limits the ability of biographers to dramatize the thoughts and feelings, the lived experience, of historical actors. Accordingly, even in such detailed and admiring nonfiction accounts as David Reynolds’s recent John Brown, Abolitionist, which appeared as I was completing this manuscript, Brown remains somewhat abstract and alien—an icon rather than a pebble, but still a stone.
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This book is a work of nonfiction. Every scene, circumstance, action, and person I represent here is drawn in accordance with the available historical record. But there are crucial moments and passages in the historical story of John Brown to which the available record provides only a map, not a key. To enter into these moments and passages, to understand them more intimately, and to convey their living drama, I sometimes visualize the undescribed sensory and emotional particulars and imagine the unpreserved words, thoughts, and motives that animated them. In these instances, I derive the voices, ideas, and feelings of the historical actors as closely as possible from surviving letters and from contemporary third-person accounts of their character and style.
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In July of 1846, the writer and naturalist Henry David Thoreau was arrested and jailed in Concord, Massachusetts, for refusing to pay his $1.50 poll tax. Thoreau committed his act of civil disobedience to protest his country’s first foreign imperialist campaign, the Mexican War, and its ever more extensive, brutal, and complacent use of black slave labor at home. Thoreau also meant his gesture to challenge the idea that government was a great impersonal machine the operations of which individual citizens could not affect and were not responsible for. Peaceful mass resistance by a citizenry that refused to accept its government’s commission of unconscionable acts in its name could stop the machine and achieve a bloodless revolution, he argued in his greatest essay, “Civil Disobedience.” Yet: “Even suppose blood should flow. Is there not a sort of blood shed when the conscience is wounded? Through this wound a man’s real manhood and immortality flow out, and he bleeds to an everlasting death. I see this blood flowing now.”

Fourteen years later, during a memorial service at John Brown’s gravesite on July 4, 1860, Thoreau returned to this theme of the life and death of conscience in recalling his first thought upon learning of Brown’s execution. “Of all the men who were said to be my contemporaries, it seemed to me that John Brown was the only one who had not died.” This book tells the story of John Brown, of where he lived and what he lived for, and of why—though his body molders—he lives on.









Prologue

The Dawn’s Early Light


“Was John Brown simply an episode, or was he an eternal truth?”

—W. E. B. DuBois






LIEUTENANT J. E. B. STUART of the First United States Cavalry crossed the yard of the Harpers Ferry armory and approached the thick oak door of the engine house under a flag of truce. He felt eyes on his back. In the gray first light of the raw morning of October 18, 1859, Stuart could make out the muzzles of two rifles protruding from gun holes that appeared to have been hastily chiseled through the engine house wall. He doubted that he had much to fear from the incompetent band of northerners and negroes trapped in the small building in front of him, fanatical haters of the southern system of labor that was protected by the country’s laws and enshrined in its traditions. He was at greater risk, he thought wryly, from the unsteady hands and judgment of his fellow Virginians who perched on the railroad trestle and the water tower and in every window of the hotel to his rear.

Drawn by the chilling news that white men in league with blacks had overrun the armory at Harpers Ferry and taken possession of its hundred thousand rifles and muskets, local militia companies and curious citizens from across the region had rushed to the snug commercial town throughout the preceding day and night. Harpers Ferry, Virginia, nestled at the tip of the peninsula bounded by the converging Shenandoah and Potomac rivers. Their churning waters formed a gateway to the Shenandoah Valley, which unfolded to the south. From its main street, lined with shops and government offices, the town ascended into the lush foothills of the Blue Ridge, finally reaching the Bolivar Heights plateau. Tidy and scenic as a Swiss mountain village, Harpers Ferry seemed an idyll of quiet and peace, but it was not—at least, not this morning. Stuart estimated that two thousand citizens—frenzied, sleepless, intoxicated, and armed—thronged doorways, windows, and rooftops and lined both riverbanks, surrounding the armory complex. The wall and the high arched doors of the engine house were already pocked and splintered by their buckshot and pistol balls. It was not the watery sun struggling to crest the soaring Maryland Heights that warmed his cheek and neck as he advanced but those grim stares, hot with outrage, heavy with fear.

Only the appraisal of one pair of eyes, however, mattered to the twenty-six-year-old Stuart. Those belonged to Colonel Robert E. Lee, the superintendent of West Point during Stuart’s term there as a cadet five years before and, by sheer good fortune, his commanding officer again today in the business of suppressing these traitors.

Lee surveyed his messenger’s progress from a patch of raised ground thirty yards away. He wore civilian clothes, but his bearing and his calm, steady gaze were sufficient signs of his authority. On leave from his Texas command, Lee had been summoned less than twenty hours ago to an emergency meeting at the White House and dispatched by President Buchanan to put down an astonishing traitorous attack on one of the United States military’s principal installations.
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The institution of slavery had been a matter of contention between representatives of the northern and southern states since the nation’s founding. But in the 1850s the bitterness and violence reached unprecedented levels. The reasons were many. The founding fathers, devoted to the immediate task of securing the young country’s economic and political viability and protecting it against threats from outside, had taken steps to defuse and defer the internal debate over slavery. Most had assumed that slavery was a temporary feature of the American social and economic landscape, a necessary evil that would gradually diminish. In 1808, Congress did outlaw the transatlantic slave trade, limiting the slave population to natural increase alone. Yet the population of enslaved blacks continued to grow, as did the reliance of the southern economy upon slavery. In 1820, Congress passed the Missouri Compromise, which—excepting the new slave state of Missouri—limited the institution’s future spread to territories below that state’s southern border. But in the 1830s and 1840s, economic instability and waves of job-seeking European immigrants led to heightened concern that slavery was depressing wages and limiting opportunity for whites.

During these same decades, the southern cotton economy expanded in scope and profitability, producing a new generation of political leaders, whose unapologetic commitment to slavery and growing power in Washington prompted some northern politicians to take a more active antislavery stance. Industrialization in the north ushered in an era of religious revival and social reform movements, which increased moral opposition to slavery among churchgoers and intellectuals. Most significant, however, was the opening of vast new western territories, which brought slaveholding and antislavery interests and populations into direct competition for land recently cleared of Indians or won from Mexico by the U.S. military. This situation was made more explosive by the passage in the early 1850s of a series of acts that repealed the Missouri Compromise and allowed western settlers to decide the legality or illegality of slavery in their territories by direct popular vote. The most dramatic and violent such contest, the battle for “bleeding Kansas” between 1855 and 1858, had at first promised a victory for proslavery forces but now seemed likely to be resolved in favor of the free state settler majority, though Kansas would not officially gain statehood for another two years.

For southerners, the loss of Kansas as a field for slavery’s expansion was bitter. Yet they had made recent gains as well. The Fugitive Slave Law of 1850 confirmed the principle that slaves remained property even if they escaped to free states and forbade any citizen, on pain of criminal prosecution, to obstruct their capture. Even more decisively, the Supreme Court’s Dred Scott decision of 1857 proclaimed that slaves could be taken and resettled by their masters anywhere in the country without gaining standing to petition for freedom under any state law. Slaves remained slaves, no matter what the laws of the state in which they resided said. Moreover, the decision stipulated that all blacks were barred from American citizenship and any rights that might pertain to citizens. As Chief Justice Roger Taney wrote, expressing the majority opinion of a court that was packed with southerners and included five justices from slaveholding families, the Constitution held blacks to be “unfit to associate with the white race, either in social or political relations, and so far inferior that they had no rights which the white man was bound to respect.”

In 1859, passions remained high. On both sides of the Mason-Dixon line, prophets of doom and advocates of disunion were plentiful, as they had been for years. Yet many expected the old sectional strife to find a new equilibrium or at least to enter into another phase of compromise and uneasy truce.

A calculated attack on the venerable state of Virginia and on a U.S. government facility just fifty-five miles from Washington itself would change all that.
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By Monday afternoon, October 17, when Lee embarked for Harpers Ferry at the head of a detachment of federal troops, panic gripped the nation’s capital. Frantic early intelligence, conveyed by telegraph, horseback, and rumor, put the number of white and black conspirators as high as seven hundred. Reaching his destination at midnight and taking command of the U.S. artillery and marine companies as well as the numerous local militias on the scene, Lee determined that these reports were wildly exaggerated. Several insurgents lay dead in the armory yard and in the river, shot by townspeople and militiamen. Two more, one critically wounded, were being held in the Wager House hotel. The remaining handful appeared to be holed up in a single room with the hostages they’d taken at the beginning of the raid.

By chance, J. E. B. Stuart also had been visiting in Washington the day before and answered the president’s call. Two hours after their arrival at Harpers Ferry, Colonel Lee assigned him the responsibility of conveying the surrender ultimatum at dawn. If the insurrectionists refused it, Stuart had orders to step away from the door and wave his cap. Upon that signal, Lieutenant Israel Green of the Washington-based U.S. Marines would lead an immediate attack.

Out of respect for local sentiment, Lee had first offered the honor of this assault on the engine house to the assembled volunteer units from the surrounding towns, but their leaders had declined it. Stuart thought it just as well. Had these Jefferson County men deserved the assignment, they would have overwhelmed the invaders and taken back the town and the armory before federal troops had arrived. Instead, they had apparently spent the previous afternoon and evening drinking and raging in the Galt House saloon, firing from cover into the armory yard and engine house, and disfiguring the corpses of the enemy they managed to kill. Stuart recalled with disgust the spectacle that he and Colonel Lee had encountered as they crossed the railroad bridge over the Potomac and entered the town the night before. In the shallows below, grotesquely illuminated by the torches of milling lookers-on, lay the body of a young man, his clothes shredded, entrails exposed, and face almost obliterated by the force of countless bullets. A few yards beyond on the bank were the remains of an older mulatto, similarly mutilated; in addition his ears had been sliced off and carried away as souvenirs.

From his observation post, Lee watched Stuart deliver the demand for unconditional surrender to the insurrection’s leader, Isaac Smith.

Stuart reached the door and executed his commission. “Mr. Smith,” he called. “I carry a message for you from Colonel Robert E. Lee, commander of the United States troops assembled here on order of the president.” For a moment there was no response. Then Stuart heard the creak of an iron bar being lifted from its latch, and as the door inched open, the sound of someone within moaning or crying in pain. Then a rifle barrel was stuck through the opening and held an inch from his head by a man who remained partly concealed behind the door. Peering into the far corner of the engine house, Stuart could see ten or twelve persons seated on the floor. These were the hostages, who seemed to include several slaves, huddled near their masters. Not far from this group, along the back wall, lay two bloodsoaked young men. Another insurgent, apparently unwounded, crouched beside them.

Stuart unfolded the letter Lee had written and began to read it aloud. The man with the rifle came more fully into the opening and interrupted him. “Lieutenant, if you please,” he said mildly but authoritatively. “I am a capable reader.” The man who had leased a nearby farm three months ago under the name Isaac Smith held out his hand for the paper.

Lee’s missive to the raiders was blunt. “Colonel Lee represents to them, in all frankness, that it is impossible for them to escape; that the armory is surrounded on all sides by troops; and that if he is compelled to take them by force he cannot answer for their safety.”

As Smith read, Stuart studied his adversary. His height was above average, five feet ten or eleven inches. Slightly hunched shoulders made him seem shorter but did not diminish the impression of energy and sinewy strength that his lean frame conveyed. Smith’s iron-gray hair was brushed back off a high forehead. He had a sharp Roman nose and a thin, determined mouth above an angular jaw that was little softened by the short white beard that covered it. His deep-set blue eyes were clear and penetrating. The townspeople had called him an old man, but it was only the bent back and the short white beard that suggested advanced age. He was weather-beaten, certainly, but in a way that reminded the lieutenant of some of those Yankee farmers he’d observed on his rides in the countryside around West Point, men who both managed their properties and worked them winter and summer, acquiring features so craggy and expressions so impassive that a stranger might fix their years at seventy or at forty with equal chance of accuracy. Yes, that was exactly his type. Perhaps he had seen this very man along the Hudson.

The moment Smith raised his eyes, Stuart knew him. They had met before, not in New York but in Kansas Territory more than three years ago. He had been clean-shaven then. And then, as now, he’d held prisoners. This was John Brown, the abolitionist radical who had made the Kansas conflict so long and bloody. Osawatomie Brown, the murderer who had dragged five of his neighbors out of their beds at midnight and hacked them to death—or directed his sons to do it—with no reason or provocation other than that the victims were proslavery men. Captain John Brown of the Kansas Liberty Guard he had called himself on that afternoon in June of 1856 when he handed over Missouri militia captain Henry Clay Pate and twenty-five of Pate’s men to Colonel Edwin Sumner’s company of United States dragoons, in which Stuart then served. The Missourians had crossed into Kansas to apprehend the old man and his sons, only to surrender themselves to Brown’s band of nine at the infamous Battle of Black Jack. Old John Brown, horse thief and man stealer, had last surfaced almost a year ago after raiding three plantations in Missouri and absconding with eleven slaves. Two and a half months and a thousand miles later, eluding posses all the way and making a mockery of the presidential bounty on his head, Brown had deposited his stolen cargo in Canada.

But now he was caught.
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“Communicate to Colonel Lee that his terms are unacceptable,” Brown began. “I am willing to retreat and abandon my purpose at the armory, but only if all my men, living or dead, are delivered to me and we are allowed to cross the Potomac bridge, taking our arms, ammunition, and prisoners with us to guarantee our safe passage. The colonel has my assurance that the prisoners will be set at liberty as soon as we reach the hills on the Maryland side.”

Stuart considered turning away and making the signal without another word. Instead, he responded, “I know you, sir. We had business of this sort together in Kansas. You are Osawatomie Brown.”

“I am afraid I cannot return the compliment,” Brown replied. “As you see, I have aged, and my memory has grown imperfect. I am enfeebled, too, by not having eaten or slept for two days and distracted by the loss of several of my young men here to assassins’ bullets, including some of my own family.”

“Assassins?” Stuart challenged. “You are the ones who have invaded and terrorized this peaceful community, imprisoned, robbed, and murdered its citizens, and treasonously assaulted a United States armory.”

“We have intended injury to no one, and I am quite certain that my men have only fired in self-defense at those who have attacked us. Those were the strict instructions I gave them.”

“The bodies of the railway baggage master and of Mr. Beckham, the mayor of this town, which I have seen, belie you. Both were unarmed when they were killed.” Stuart paused when he saw Brown’s clear eyes cloud slightly. “Thousands have gathered here, Mr. Brown,” he continued, “and they are justly aroused against you. But if you surrender now without further violence, Colonel Lee will keep you in safety pending orders from President Buchanan as to your transport and prosecution.”

“If your report is true, Lieutenant, I am very sorry to hear it. Every man’s life is dear to him, and it is a crime against God and humanity to take a life needlessly. I assure you that nothing was further from our intention. I believe that Colonel Washington, whom we have detained here, will vouch for my respect and care for our prisoners. It was for their protection, more than our own, that we retreated to the engine house, and no threat or harm has been offered them, even after my own son Watson and another of my men were shot down like dogs when I sent them out to negotiate terms of peace under the same flag of truce that has brought you here uninjured. I have sought neither vengeance nor gain. I came to this place in response to the cry of the distressed, with the single purpose of liberating my fellow human beings who are in bondage in Virginia.”

Stuart had grown increasingly impatient as Brown spoke. “How acute your ear must be, Mr. Brown,” he snapped, “to hear Virginia’s distress from so far away. And what made you suppose that this imagined cry from a sovereign state not your own was addressed particularly to you?” Instantly regretting his loss of composure, the lieutenant added, “But I will not debate with you, sir. Will you surrender and spare these hostages from risk of harm, or do you choose to be overrun?”

As Brown did not immediately reply, a stately middle-aged man rose from the cluster of prisoners at the rear of the engine house. He was Colonel Lewis Washington, great-grandnephew of the first president, a gentleman farmer who owned property on the Bolivar Heights between Harpers Ferry and Charlestown. Speaking directly to Stuart, Washington confirmed that he and the other prisoners had been treated well during the ordeal of the last thirty hours and requested that Lee himself come into the engine house to discuss terms for their release.

Washington felt that a respectful understanding of sorts had developed between Brown and himself and that he and Colonel Lee together might persuade the man to listen to reason now. Excepting the captivity itself, the principal indignities he had suffered were the initial invasion of his home two nights ago by six of Brown’s followers and their demand, as stipulated by Brown, that he place his family’s most precious heirloom into the hands of one of the negroes among them. This was a ceremonial sword, a gift of Frederick the Great to his ancestor, General Washington. Brown had worn the sword at his waist all the previous day, only unbuckling it and setting it atop the fire engine when he went to sit by his sons during the night.

Washington, his neighbor John Allstadt, and their slaves had been taken to the armory by their captors in Washington’s own carriage and farm wagon. On his arrival, Brown had greeted him pleasantly, almost deferentially. From that moment on, what Washington found most curious in the whole extraordinary business was Brown’s seeming compulsion to be thought well of by the very men whose liberty he had infringed and property appropriated. Before the town had become a shooting gallery late the previous morning, Brown had insisted on sending one of the captured armory guards across the street to the Wager House to arrange for the delivery of a breakfast sufficient for all of his prisoners. And throughout the day, as the townspeople and neighboring militias gathered, blocking every possible exit route and raining bullets into the armory compound, Brown had seemed more concerned to defend his motives and tactics to Washington and Allstadt than to improve his deteriorating position. He appeared not to regard the fact that he’d kidnapped these gentlemen at gunpoint, held them hostage, and proposed to arm their servants as any sort of barrier to philosophical dialogue with them. Nor did he see any reason why, under such circumstances, his patient arguments from history and scripture might not bring them around to his view.

Brown had continued these arguments into the night, even as his two sons lay dying, the one he called Oliver repeatedly begging to be shot and put out of his misery.

“You will get over it,” said Brown, and resumed his efforts to school his captives in the sufferings of blacks and the duty of Christians. Washington had wondered what kind of a man could so steel himself to the present agony of his own flesh and blood while he discoursed so passionately about the distant tribulations of strangers. Now Oliver’s body lay cold against the wall next to his brother Watson, who still breathed.
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John Brown did not hear Washington ask Stuart if Colonel Lee would come negotiate in person or Stuart’s response that there would be no negotiation. The lieutenant’s sarcastic request to know why he thought slavery was his personal business had thrown him into a momentary reverie. Slavery simply was his business and had been from as far back as he could remember. His own stern father’s first and constant lesson to his children was that they must fear God and hate slavery, and Brown had always understood this to be one lesson, not two. The path of righteousness, he had been taught, must be walked, not merely proclaimed. Every man must find out that path in his own place and time. In his, it was resistance to slavery.

Not only the cry but the very heartbeat of the oppressed slave had long been addressed to him. He had heard it as a nineteen-year-old tanner in Hudson, Ohio, when a young fugitive, the first of many runaway slaves who would stop at Brown’s station on the Underground Railroad, took momentary refuge in the cabin that he shared with his foster brother, Levi Blakeslee. Terrified by the voices of approaching strangers, whom he mistook for slave catchers, the runaway had clambered out the window at the rear of the cabin, leaving a half-full saucer of milk on the table and the warm imprints of his fingers on the uneaten bread. When the danger had passed, Brown discovered the fugitive’s hiding place behind the woodpile, a spot to which he felt himself directed by the audible pounding of the negro’s heart.

That was the second time he was called. The first was a decade earlier. His mother had died in 1808, when he was eight, and John still pined after her, resisting the efforts of his father’s new wife to replace her in his affections. Just as he reached adolescence, the second war with Britain broke out and gave him the opportunity to put some distance between himself and the family circle from which he felt estranged. His father, a tanner, shoemaker, and cattle breeder in Ohio’s Western Reserve, had a contract to supply beef to the American troops fighting along the Great Lakes. John learned the route and then volunteered to drive the cattle alone to a point on the supply line in Michigan. Arriving safely with his herd, more than a hundred miles from his home, he lodged for a week with a U.S. marshal, who treated him like a favorite nephew, giving him presents, praising his cleverness and conversation, and rehearsing young Brown’s wilderness exploits at dinner to entertain his friends. But this attention and esteem, so much desired by the lonely child, was made bitter to him by a shocking contrast.

In this gentleman’s household lived a negro serving boy. John sought his companionship, and across the divide of race and circumstance, the two quickly became friends. Though John was the hero of the hour, the blunt honesty and habit of critical self-scrutiny that his father had always demanded of him led him to recognize that the black child, a year younger than he, was his superior. He surpassed John in agility, in aptitude, in generosity, and surely in the fortitude with which he bore the loss of his family. Yet the same kind host who showered the white boy with gifts and praise bestowed on the black only poor clothing, meager food, and ridicule. And when the last guest had left the very dinner at which he had been celebrated, John watched in horror as the marshal casually took an iron shovel from the fireplace and beat his friend across the head and shoulders for some trivial lack of promptness or precision in his service at the table. Long after he had gone to his warm bed, John imagined he still heard the boy’s muffled sobs.

For years after that, he would return in meditation to the wretched, hopeless condition of slave children, who could depend on neither mother nor father to protect and provide for them. Sometimes he even posed the question to himself whether these children had a caring father in God.
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“For the last time, Mr. Brown,” Stuart barked, “will you surrender now without conditions?”

Brown’s eyes found him. “I have told you my conditions, Lieutenant. Failing to have them met, my men and I are prepared to sell our lives dearly.” Brown’s face had regained its granite calm.

Stuart stepped back out of the doorway, lifted his cap, and swung it over his head. The engine house door slammed shut and the bar clanged back into place as the soldiers of Lieutenant Green’s detail charged. Three marines attempted to shatter the door with sledgehammers, the others waiting behind them with bayonets at the ready. Colonel Lee had ordered a bayonet attack in the hope of minimizing injuries to the prisoners. When the sledgehammers failed, Green instructed his men to use as a battering ram a heavy ladder that had been brought out into the armory yard.

The first marine to enter was shot and killed by one of the four remaining raiders with Brown in the engine house who were still capable of putting up a fight. Brown himself knelt beside his two sons as the troops rushed in, holding a rifle in one hand and feeling Watson’s feeble pulse with the other. Two of Brown’s men—Watson’s brother-in-law Dauphin Thompson, and Jeremiah Goldsmith Anderson, grandson of a Virginia slaveholding family—were quickly bayoneted to death. The others—Edwin Coppoc, one of the two Quaker Coppoc brothers to fight with Brown, and the escaped slave Shields Green—were able to surrender. As Lieutenant Israel Green accompanied his troops into the engine house, Colonel Washington, whom he knew, greeted him and identified the kneeling man a few feet away.

“This is Osawatomie.”

In his haste to leave the capital the afternoon before, Green had neglected to exchange his dress sword for a regulation battle saber. Armed with a weapon better suited for show than for use, he nonetheless sprang at the rising Brown, aiming a death blow at his enemy’s midsection. The light blade caught Brown at the waist but struck something hard—Brown’s belt or hip bone. The old man was knocked backward, but Green’s sword was bent double and useless for a second thrust. Taking the weapon in both hands and using it as a cudgel, Lieutenant Green brought down blow after blow on Brown’s skull, bruising and cutting his head, neck, and face in many places. When it was clear that Brown was unconscious or dead, Green desisted.

Had Israel Green struck him a few inches higher or lower, or had he been carrying the heavier sword designed for mortal combat, John Brown and his attempt to begin the forcible abolition of slavery with a volunteer army of twenty-one men and boys might have been simply an episode. But Brown recovered from his wounds and lived for six more weeks before he was hung by the state of Virginia for the crimes of treason to the commonwealth, murder, and conspiring with slaves to rebel. By the time of his death, on December 2, 1859, Brown’s written and spoken words had set the United States on a path of radical and painful transformation. A path, as Brown viewed it, of renewal and fulfillment of the nation’s founding promise.

It is a path we travel still.









Chapter One

Founding Fathers




“If a tax on tea justified revolution,

did not the souls of men and women?”

—William Lloyd Garrison




GEORGE LUTHER STEARNS was cold. He had been cold, it seemed, every moment since the Wednesday in mid-October when Boston newspapers reported that John Brown of Osawatomie had been captured in Virginia while attempting a bold, strange, doomed assault on the federal armory at Harpers Ferry. The discovery of a trunk full of papers by U.S. troops at a farmhouse across the Potomac in Maryland implicated leading northeastern industrialists, philanthropists, physicians, and even ministers in Brown’s plot. The following week, Stearns shivered as he stared at the incriminating private correspondence of three of his fellow secret committee members that the New York Herald had published under the banner headline THE EXPOSURE OF THE NIGGER-WORSHIPPING INSURRECTIONISTS. Four months later, on February 24, 1860, the Massachusetts millionaire sat at the witness table in the Senate hearings room of the Capitol Building in Washington. He was still cold.

James Mason of Virginia, chair of the special Senate investigation of John Brown’s objectives and accomplices, called the session to order. Next to Mason, author of the 1850 Fugitive Slave Law, sat Senator Jefferson Davis of Mississippi. Proslavery Indiana Senator Graham Fitch and two members of the minority Republican Party, Vermont’s Jacob Collamer and James Doolittle of Wisconsin, filled out the Senate committee.

Stearns asked that he be allowed to read a prepared statement. He was not used to speaking in public, let alone to being interrogated, he told the senators, and he wished to offer them a clear, accurate, and condensed account of his dealings with John Brown. After some consultation, the committee granted his request. Stearns read for an hour and a half, gradually relaxing as he droned on.

He really had little to worry about, he told himself. Nothing specific could be proved, because he and the others had not known and had not wished to know the exact details of Brown’s abolitionist operation in the south. Stearns doubted whether any of the senators besides Davis even wanted to force the criminal prosecution of prominent citizens of the north whose only provable offense was harboring antislavery sentiments and raising money to defend the right of the majority of free white settlers in Kansas to keep slavery out of their territory. Mason feared a sympathetic backlash that might drive more voters into the Republican ranks later this year if it appeared that the southerners were persecuting innocent men for the crime of a handful of frontier fanatics and negroes who had already been captured and executed. And the committee’s two Republicans were all too willing to find that no respectable citizen of the north would carry humane antislavery sentiments, such as those their party professed, to such a lawless and repugnant extreme as knowingly to support an action like Brown’s.

The interrogation that followed Stearns’s opening remarks proceeded with little drama for ninety more minutes before Senator Collamer brought it to a close.

“Now,” he asked, in a tone that announced they were finally getting to the heart of the matter, “did you ever, before that took place, have any intimation that that was contemplated to be done, intended to be done by him?”

“No, sir,” Stearns replied. “I never supposed that he contemplated anything like what occurred at Harpers Ferry.”

“Then I ask you, do you disapprove of such a transaction as that at Harpers Ferry?”

“I should have disapproved of it if I had known it,” said the raid’s principal funder and arms supplier.

The session was adjourned and the senators took a hasty leave, all except Mason, who stayed to review the transcript with the committee stenographer. Stearns had gathered his papers and was free to go. Yet he hesitated, remembering a winter afternoon three years ago in his parlor in Medford. Tears had welled in his wife Mary’s eyes as their visitor recounted his family’s sufferings in Kansas in the cause of freedom. Henry, his young son, had tugged at Stearns’s sleeve, whispering a request for permission to give Captain Brown his pocket money to relieve some poor little boy in the territories. This recollection quickly gave way to the image of the small, unpainted farmhouse and adjoining family graveyard in the Adirondacks that Stearns had visited just three weeks ago. A procession of orphaned Brown girls and widowed women had greeted him there with modest embraces and brave smiles. They passed before him again now: quiet, solemn Mary Brown; the teenage widows of Oliver and Watson; several younger Brown sisters, the littlest no more than six; and Brown’s eldest daughter and red-haired family scribe, thirty-year-old Ruth Thompson, who had written to his Mary inviting them to come. It would be a comfort to the entire family, Ruth had said, to be better acquainted with such warm friends and admirers of her father.

Brown’s friend cleared his throat loudly. When Mason looked up, Stearns said that he had misspoken in answer to Senator Collamer’s last question. “May I correct the record?” he asked. Mason stared at him for a moment, then nodded, and asked the stenographer to read back Senator Collamer’s last question and take Stearns’s amended answer.

“Then I ask you, do you disapprove of such a transaction as that at Harpers Ferry?” the stenographer recited.

Stearns took a breath. “I should have disapproved of it if I had known of it,” he replied, “but I have since changed my opinion. I believe John Brown to be the representative man of this century, as Washington was of the last.”
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George Washington died on his plantation at Mount Vernon on December 14, 1799, days from the turn of the new century. Few Americans doubted that his resolute leadership alone had sustained their army through the dark years of the Revolutionary War and that his force of character as president had seen the country safely through its critical first decade. More than the Constitution itself, it was the childless Washington who had brought forth a nation out of a jumble of colonies and competing factions that had been united at first by little more than their common resentment of British political and economic control. Washington’s fatherhood of the country was proclaimed by each of his many eulogists and by none more emphatically than the Constitution’s principal draftsman. “Americans!” cried Gouverneur Morris of New York. “He had no child—but you!”

Within a few months of Washington’s death, “Parson” Weems, Episcopal priest and itinerant bookseller, was peddling a pamphlet of his own composition designed to celebrate the hero’s private virtues as well as his public deeds in a language that common people and even children could understand. Mason Locke “Parson” Weems steadily added material to his Life of Washington until by 1809 it had grown into a substantial completed book. By 1825, more than twenty-nine editions were in circulation. The cult of Washington, who stood at the head of an emerging pantheon of revered Founding Fathers, soon became a kind of national civic religion that served both a political and a psychological purpose. Politically it helped give form and character to the fledgling patriotism of early Americans, personalizing their sense of attachment to the country and to one another. Psychologically the cult of Washington and the Founders conferred on the next generation of Americans a filial obligation to preserve the Fathers’ legacy by protecting what they had achieved and seeking to advance the principles they had held dear.

For John Brown, born in 1800, five months after Washington’s death and just as the first version of Weems’s Life of Washington began to circulate, the sense of a personal Revolutionary legacy was strong. His grandfather and namesake, Captain John Brown, had commanded a regiment in Washington’s army, dying early in the war of the dysentery that contaminated food and water spread among the troops. In 1857, while visiting cousins in his family’s native town of Canton, Connecticut, Brown came upon the original tombstone of this grandfather leaning against a wall by the roadside. Asking and receiving permission from his kin to take the displaced memorial back to his home at North Elba, he resolved to add an inscription commemorating his son Frederick, who had been executed by a proslavery vigilante in Kansas the previous year.

“That stone,” said Brown to the Connecticut storekeeper with whom he was riding when he discovered it, “formerly marked the grave of my grandfather, who died fighting for the liberties of his country. My son has just been murdered in the same cause in Kansas, and the government applauded the murderer. This stone shall bear his name also.” Later it would bear Brown’s own.

Above all others, the word that proclaimed the American legacy was “liberty.” Liberty named the Fathers’ crowning accomplishment and their most closely guarded right. Liberty also anchored the loftiest and most familiar sentences of America’s sacred founding documents: “We hold these truths to be self-evident, that all men are created equal, that they are endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable Rights, that among these are Life, Liberty, and the pursuit of Happiness,” the Declaration of Independence pronounced. The preamble to the Constitution added, “We the people of the United States, in order to form a more perfect Union, establish justice, insure domestic tranquility, provide for the common defense, promote the general welfare, and secure the blessings of liberty to ourselves and our posterity, do ordain and establish this Constitution for the United States of America.”

Liberty was the Founding Fathers’ gift and their heirs’ responsibility, and everyone knew it. Everyone also knew what liberty’s symbolic and practical opposite was, though neither the Declaration of Independence nor the Constitution spoke its name. “Is life so dear, or peace so sweet,” Patrick Henry famously demanded, urging his fellow Virginians to overcome their cautious arguments and psychological taboos against armed revolt, “as to be purchased at the price of chains and slavery? I know not what course others may take, but as for me, give me liberty or give me death!” As the slaveholding Henry’s call for freedom unwittingly disclosed, America’s noble thesis was bound to a degraded antithesis. Slavery falsified the new nation’s self-evident truths and deformed its more perfect union.
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At the outset of the War of Independence, slavery existed and was lawful in all of the thirteen colonies. Yet its incompatibility with the precept of liberty and the rhetoric of the Revolution had become apparent to most American leaders. “To contend for liberty and to deny that blessing to others involves an inconsistency not to be excused,” wrote New York’s John Jay. Abigail Adams of Massachusetts, in a letter to her husband, John, put it more bluntly. “It always appeared a most iniquitous Scheme to me—fight ourselves for what we are daily robbing and plundering from those who have as good a right to freedom as we have.” And Virginia’s Thomas Jefferson, though a slaveholder himself, brooded on how an American could “inflict on his fellow men, a bondage, one hour of which is fraught with more misery, than ages of that which he rose in rebellion to oppose.”

Such inconsistency led the seven original northern states—which, in 1790, contained fewer than fifty thousand of the country’s approximately seven hundred thousand slaves—to take steps to end slavery soon after the nation was established. When Congress outlawed the international slave trade in 1808, many white Americans assumed that slavery would gradually diminish throughout the country, that the African population itself would decline, and that eventually the remnant of former slaves and their descendants would either be resettled elsewhere or accommodated in the United States as a small, segregated laboring class. Instead, the numbers of blacks in bondage increased to two million in 1830, two and a half million in 1840, more than three million in 1850, and nearly four million when John Brown marched on Harpers Ferry in 1859.

Still, “Liberty” remained America’s watchword, and in the first three decades of the nineteenth century, most Americans came to declare and exercise it without any of the personal discomfort or consciousness of national hypocrisy that Jay, Adams, and Jefferson had expressed. Slavery persisted, but the virtue of liberty seemed to have escaped its shadow. The legacy of the Founding Fathers was to be honored and preserved by seeing to it that the United States prospered, and that required enterprise, vigilant attention to one’s private affairs at home, and advancement of the country’s status and prerogatives in the community of nations. In pursuit of these ends, Americans supported territorial expansion, fought for maritime security and free access to world trade in the War of 1812, and became a strikingly litigious people in defense of their personal economic rights.

As the U.S. economy grew and slavery grew with it, Americans began to abandon the Founders’ belief that the problem was temporary. Instead, many came to view it as insoluble. The sons and grandsons of the Revolutionary generation rationalized this view by asserting that the true American political legacy was balance and practical compromise, not emancipation. The Founders compromised on the issue of slavery for the sake of unity, and their descendants were obliged to do likewise. In the south, as the acquisition of the Louisiana territories vastly increased the plantation economy’s scale and the invention of the cotton gin and other new textile-processing technologies vastly increased its profitability, expressions of concern about the practice or duration of slavery became less and less welcome. Though northern mills, manufacturers, and shippers also profited from the raw materials that slave labor cheaply provided, most northerners regarded slavery as a southern problem, an unfortunate vestige of a premodern age, maintained by a less enlightened population. In addition, there was racism, which the French social analyst Alexis de Tocqueville found, in his 1831 tour of the United States, to be more virulent in the north and northwest than in the south.

“The prejudice of race,” he wrote, “appears to be stronger in the states that have abolished slavery than in those where it still exists; and nowhere is it so intolerant as in those states where servitude has never been known.”

These causes of complacency about the institution of slavery in the early nineteenth century found support in the belief in a benign and progressive Providence that the Founding Fathers bequeathed to the political and intellectual elites who followed them. In the Declaration’s first sentence, Jefferson asserts that it is “the Laws of Nature and Nature’s God” that entitle the American people to assume a separate and equal station among the powers of the earth. For Jefferson, the Creator is not a God who works his will through decisive contests between good and evil but one who governs through natural laws and processes that are clarified and fulfilled “in the course of human events.” Humankind inhabits a providential design, Enlightenment intellectuals contended, a complex and evolving physical, social, and moral environment whose workings might be gleaned and purposes gradually advanced by the application of reason.

This design was inherently benevolent, and the task of human beings was to live in harmony with it. Close observation of the physical universe and behavior in accordance with its laws could ensure a peaceful state, one in which evolutionary transformations rather than revolutionary ones would take place. Only on rare occasions and in response to unnatural provocations would “the Laws of Nature” authorize radical breaks. The persistence of slavery did not present such an occasion. For Jefferson, nature’s dictates in regard to the status of blacks were at best ambiguous. In his Notes on the State of Virginia, written nine years after the Declaration of Independence, Jefferson argued that though white prejudices and injuries had played a role in limiting blacks’ development, they did not account for or negate “the real distinctions which nature has made.” Africans were not created equal but “inferior to the whites in the endowments both of body and mind.” Jefferson concluded with a rhetorical question. “Will not a lover of natural history, then, one who views the gradations in all the races of animals with the eye of philosophy, excuse an effort to keep those in the department of man as distinct as nature has formed them?”
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Like most children of the post-Revolutionary generation, John Brown imbibed a pious respect for the nation’s founders. But by the circumstances of his birth, region, and training, Brown also inherited another American patrimony: an intense religiosity.

The Browns traced their American origins to a seventeenth-century English Puritan, Peter Brown, one of the original Pilgrims who stepped off the Mayflower onto Plymouth Rock in 1620 determined to establish a religious and civic community in the New World that would advance the kingdom of God. Followers of the stern precepts of Reformation theologian John Calvin, the Puritan settlers of New England worshipped a demanding God whose eternal character stood revealed in both testaments of the Bible. Theirs was the God who chastened the Israelites for forty years in the desert before deeming them worthy of deliverance in Canaan, who later sacrificed his only son to redeem humankind, and who might justly require great sacrifices of his faithful as well.

Calvinism was a rigorous form of Protestantism that entailed a challenging synthesis of emotion and intellect and of private and civic religious practice. The believing Calvinist conducted a lifelong spiritual inquiry consisting of three interrelated components: to study the Bible to better understand God’s glory and God’s requirements; to study himself to assess whether he genuinely felt that glory and dutifully strove to fulfill those requirements; and to study his social relations and worldly circumstances to determine where they were unrighteous and what he could do to rectify them. By their diligence in these religious exercises, Calvinists readied themselves for salvation, though no efforts of their own could ensure it.

Calvinists understood God to be both personal and infinite, but they did not construe those qualities in the more comforting ways that later Protestant sects often would. God was personal in the sense that his hand was actively involved in the affairs of individual lives but not in the sense that he could be known intimately or familiarly or would ever reveal himself, except indirectly through Scripture. God was infinite in the sense that he was everywhere and that every occurrence was—in ways and for reasons that were often mysterious to human beings—part of his plan, but this infiniteness did not mean he was all-accepting or all-forgiving. On the contrary, Calvinism insisted on a God who was at once punitive and loving, punitive because loving.

By the early nineteenth century, Calvinism had been eclipsed by newer Protestant denominations—Methodists, Baptists, Unitarians, and others—that offered an array of less stark theologies. If the original Calvinist synthesis held firm anywhere in John Brown’s America, however, it was in the region of central Connecticut where Brown was born, a few miles from the birthplace of Calvinism’s greatest eighteenth-century expositor, Jonathan Edwards. At least for the faithful of Connecticut and western Massachusetts, Edwards and his followers had successfully parried one of the principal thrusts of Calvinism’s opponents, the charge that Calvinism limits or denies the free will of human beings. Demonstrating their belief in individual moral accountability, the nineteenth-century Edwardsean or Consistent Calvinists adopted the Puritan conception of life as a trial or test in which the individual approached or fell away from union with God. Within the course of a human life and the bounds of human understanding, this union could never be complete or certain. But through rigorous attention to the Bible, spiritual introspection, and an active commitment to righteousness, God’s creatures might come to appreciate, as Edwards put it, that “their interest must be viewed as one with God’s interest.”

Nothing was more urgent than the pursuit of such oneness with God. In their determination to serve God’s interest, however, Brown’s seventeenth-century New England forefathers had often perpetrated terrible errors and self-deceptions. The burning of Indian villages, the persecution of Quakers, the execution of twenty-one suspected witches at Salem—all of these deeds, though largely motivated by worldly fears and desires, were done in the name of God. Opposition to negro slavery, on the other hand, had played little part in the early Puritans’ commitment to righteousness, nor did the majority of their Congregationalist descendants in Brown’s time embrace abolitionist sentiments, let alone antiracist ones.

How, then, did John Brown come to equate God’s interest with the interests of the enslaved and divine truth with the truth of racial equality? Like most human beliefs, these were the products of no single cause or instant, yet Brown’s association of religious reverence with antislavery commitment begins in his relationship with his father, Owen Brown.
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Owen Brown’s earliest childhood memory was the departure of his father’s militia company to engage the British in New York in the summer of 1776. A kindly neighbor, John Fast, seeing that Captain Brown had had to abandon his farm with much work undone, sent over his slave Sam to help Mrs. Brown and her ten children. Five-year-old Owen attached himself to the black man, riding on his back as he plowed. But Sam had contracted pleurisy and worked only a few days for the Browns before returning to his cabin on Mr. Fast’s property and dying. Owen mourned at his funeral, the first he had ever attended. A few weeks later he mourned for his father, who had also fallen ill and died away from home.

The link between Revolutionary heritage, the plight of slaves, and Christian faith and obligation was forged for Owen Brown in late adolescence. Sent out by his struggling mother to live with a series of relatives and friends, Owen eventually found refuge and tutelage in the home of the town’s new Congregational minister, Jeremiah Hallock.

In 1791, Reverend Hallock received a copy of a sermon recently preached by his New Haven colleague, the younger Jonathan Edwards, son of the legendary theologian and a distinguished minister in his own right. Entitled “The Injustice and Impolicy of the Slave Trade and of the Slavery of the Africans,” Edwards’s sermon took as its text perhaps the most famous verse in Christian scripture, chapter 7, verse 12 of The Gospel According to St. Matthew. “Therefore all things whatsoever that men should do to you, do ye even so to them; for this is the law and the prophets.” Upon this teaching of Jesus, Edwards quickly built to the following crescendo of questions. “Should we be willing, that the Africans or any other nation should purchase us, our wives and children, transport us into Africa and there sell us into perpetual and absolute slavery? Should we be willing, that they by large bribes and offers of a gainful traffic, should entice our neighbors to kidnap and sell us to them, and that they should hold in perpetual and cruel bondage, not only ourselves, but our posterity through all generations? Yet why is it not as right for them to treat us in this manner, as it is for us to treat them in the same manner?”

It is a truth clearly demonstrable from both reason and revelation, as well as from the principle defended in the late War of Independence, Edwards concluded, that opposing slavery is “a duty which we owe to mankind, to ourselves, and to God too. It is but doing as we would that men should do to us.”

Owen Brown read Reverend Hallock’s copy of this sermon and declared himself an abolitionist. Years later, his son, stumping through Massachusetts, Connecticut, New York, Pennsylvania, and Ohio in an effort to gather money, arms, and recruits for a patriotic war against slavery, would tell his audiences, “I believe in the Golden Rule and the Declaration of Independence. I think they both mean the same thing.”

Owen Brown would become one of the most prosperous and influential citizens of Hudson, Ohio, where he settled with his family when his son John was five years old. A successful tanner, cattle breeder, and land speculator, Squire Brown (as he came to be called) also served his community as justice of the peace, county commissioner, and one of the founders and trustees of two Ohio colleges, Western Reserve and Oberlin. Owen Brown was also a devout Calvinist. His brief autobiography, written at age seventy-eight, begins with the sentence, “My life has been of little worth, mostly filled up with vanity.”

John Brown idolized his father. As a boy, however, Brown longed for more of the stern and busy Owen’s regard; as an adult, he often wondered whether he merited it. To some degree, Brown’s insecurity was the portion of every child born into a religious family in colonial and early republican America. Parents’ first responsibility, instructed no less an authority than Cotton Mather, was not to love their children but to “give an account of the souls that belong unto their family.” Because young children could and did sicken and die at any time, they must be made aware of their mortality and taught to prepare themselves for salvation as soon as they were capable of speech and understanding. What was required for their redemption was discipline, even if parents were as pained to administer it as children to bear it. Accordingly, when the children who had grown past infancy were disobedient or untruthful, Owen ventured conscientiously out beyond the patch of cleared land around his cabin and cut from a low branch of one of the encircling trees a “limber persuader” that either he or his young wife, Ruth, would apply to the bottom or thighs of the offender. Proverbs taught that “he that spareth his rod hateth his son: but he that loveth him chasteneth him betimes.” This, after all, was how God shepherded all his children when they strayed, not out of cruelty but to return them to the fold before they were lost.

By 1807, Owen and Ruth Brown were responsible for six young souls. The eldest was a foster child, Levi Blakeslee, whom the couple took in after two sons of their own had died, one at two years old and the other at birth. Anna was born in 1798 and survived infancy, to her parents’ great relief and delight. John was born two years later, on May 9, 1800, the Browns’ first healthy son. But he was not to be doted on for long. Salmon arrived when he was two, Oliver when he was four, and then Frederick when he was six, a year after the family had moved from Torrington, Connecticut, to the village of Hudson, Ohio, in a region where Indians still substantially outnumbered white settlers.

Brown described his early life on the frontier in a third-person account of his boyhood that he wrote more than fifty years later to keep a promise he’d made to George Stearns’s son Henry on that January afternoon in 1857 when the boy emptied his savings into Brown’s hand. His most vivid recollections were of solitary wanderings in the woods around the tiny settlement, of hours spent hanging about the edges of the Seneca, Ottawa, and Chippewa camps that still dotted the territory in spite of the government treaties that required these tribes to relocate further west, and of his intense attachments to fleeting “earthly treasures.” A brilliant and cherished yellow marble, given him by an Indian boy, was somehow lost “beyond recovery,” a “wound,” Brown recalled, that “took years to heal.” A pet squirrel that he had captured and trained wandered away or was killed, and “for a year or two John was in mourning.” In after years, Brown told Henry Stearns, he would come to recognize in these experiences at ages six and seven “the beginning of a severe but much needed course of discipline” in accepting and surviving loss.

Hudson Township was officially incorporated in 1802. By the time the Browns arrived, three years later, the Calvinistic Congregational Church of Hudson had been erected on the south green. Fewer than a dozen families, one of them that of Owen Brown’s father-in-law, Reverend Gideon Mills, resided in the village of Hudson when Owen came out alone to clear the ground and begin construction of his house in 1804. He would return to the unfinished one-room cabin in July of 1805, accompanied by his wife and children.

Aided by his eleven-year-old foster son, Levi, Owen Brown set to work weatherproofing the cabin, hanging a door in its open entryway, and filling its empty window holes with sliding wooden slats. Trees had to be cut and then cleared, along with stumps and rocks as well, from the land where corn, wheat, potatoes, turnips, and onions were to be planted. After these tasks were completed, Owen began to build a tannery on Brandywine Creek. Its completion would enable him to recommence the trades he had practiced in Connecticut: shoemaker, tanner, and leather worker. Once Owen’s tannery was established, John watched him dress deerskins and other animal hides, observing the process intently and committing it to memory so that he could do exactly as his father did. He was delighted when Owen made him a pair of buckskin breeches with a single leather strap worn over the shoulder to hold them up out of one of the first skins he tanned at Hudson.

But John’s most closely held earthly treasure was his mother. Though her own sphere of work was immense and there were three children younger than John to care for, Ruth Brown found time to teach her eldest son his letters and the words in the hymnal. A reverend’s pious daughter, Ruth abandoned herself in holy music. It was her clear, sweet voice that enveloped John when the family sang. And sometimes, when Ruth joined in the mothers’ prayer meetings or visiting rounds that were winter-evening customs in the township, he would be bundled into the straw-lined box of the ox sled along with his younger siblings, and his mother would gather them all to her and spread thick quilts filled with woolen batting over the whole family for the ride through the snow.
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In December of 1808, in childbirth for the eighth time, Ruth Brown weakened, delivered a distressed and short-lived infant, and died a few hours later. Owen had loved her since they first met and thought of their marriage as “the beginning of days with me.” To him, her death seemed the end of days. “All my earthly prospects appeared to be blasted,” Owen Brown wrote four decades later. So it seemed, as well, to his eight-year-old son. Looking to his father for solace and direction, John saw a man paralyzed, almost catatonic with grief. Even had Owen thought to try to speak words of comfort to his children, he could not have done so. He had always been afflicted by a painful stutter that slowed and clotted his speech. Only in prayer and song were his facial muscles relieved of tension and his words granted free passage. Now, motionless on a three-legged stool at the bedside of his dead wife, with his tiny cold daughter wrapped in a blanket on a pallet near the hearth and his living children whimpering in the room’s corners, Owen felt words and fluids rising in his throat but could not move his lips at all. After a while, he bolted up and out of the cabin, willing his legs to carry him through the wind-whipped snow to David Hudson’s three-story, Federal-style clapboard house.

When the township chairman and founder opened his door to Owen Brown, he feared the solid, respectable tanner had become deranged, so agitated was his manner and incomprehensible his speech. At last, Hudson made out the reason for Owen’s distress and the purpose of his call. He needed a place to bury his wife. There was no graveyard in the village. Hudson arranged for a local property owner with whom the Browns had traveled from Connecticut to donate a nearby spot of land for a cemetery. Owen buried Ruth and their unnamed infant there. Then he settled back into his depression. Neighbors came in with meals for the children.

Throughout the winter of 1808, the Browns trudged into the icy wind to stand at Ruth’s lonely grave and stare at the inscription on her tombstone.

SACRED TO THE

MEMORY OF

RUTH, WIFE OF

OWEN BROWN

WHO DIED DEC. 13, 1808

IN THE 37 YEAR OF

HER AGE

She was a delightful child,

A sprightly youth, a Loving wife,

A Tender parent, a Kind neighbor

and an Exemplary christian.

Sweet is the memory of the Just.

But the text contained an error. The phrase “delightful child” had been mistakenly carved where “dutiful child” had been intended. Owen pulled himself out of his lassitude and ordered the correction. “Dutiful” was gouged in deeper, bolder letters over the place where “delightful” had been inscribed.

Within a year, Owen, following custom and necessity, remarried. Yet his son John felt his own loss to be “complete & permanent.” The Westminster Catechism, from which their stepmother Sally Root now schooled Ruth’s children in religious obligation, taught that God in his infinite wisdom justly decrees “whatsoever comes to pass” and demands of his creatures humble and reverent submission to his will. But John would not so mildly subordinate his memory of his delightful mother to his duty to respect and obey his father’s new wife. Instead, he enlisted Salmon in acts of petty defiance and occasionally in dangerous pranks against twenty-year-old Sally. Reluctantly, mournfully, Owen prepared the necessary limber persuaders and thrashed him.
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As time passed, the father’s affection for his son and the son’s need for his father began to win back John’s obedience. At school he continued rowdy and restless. Yet when working with Owen at the tannery or with the livestock, John marshaled his precocious powers of observation and concentration and quickly made himself a skilled apprentice. Even as he sought his father’s company and took pleasure in his increasing usefulness to him, though, John preserved a space of physical independence, usually in strenuous forest rambles, in which he struggled to cultivate or at least simulate the emotional self-possession that he felt he lacked. He was large and strong for his age. By early adolescence, he had nearly reached his full size of five feet ten inches and one hundred and forty-five pounds and was able to make the cattle-driving journey that culminated in his traumatic stay with the slaveholding U.S. marshal.

Brown would date his personal abolitionist convictions from this experience, when he stood helpless witness to his host’s shovel-wielding assault on his friend and perceived that skin color alone made the difference between the marshal’s extravagant esteem for him and gratuitous brutality toward the at least equally worthy black boy. John sensed too how different in motive and spirit was this master’s vicious and unjust chastisement from the correction that his own father sometimes imposed on him. The horror of slavery, as he felt it then, was that it imposed on the slave a state of orphanhood that really was complete and permanent. Such, he wrote to Henry Stearns, was “the wretched, hopeless condition, of Fatherless & Motherless slave children: for such children have neither Fathers or Mothers to protect & provide for them.” But this was not his condition, despite his vain and self-pitying brooding. He might be motherless—although only to the extent that he rebuffed all of Sally Root’s efforts to be a mother to him—but he had a providing father here on earth and a protecting Heavenly Father in whom he had too little trusted.

Returning to Hudson, John applied himself even more zealously to his tasks at the tannery: drawing and carrying bucket after bucket of water from Brandywine Creek in which to soak and soften the cured animal skins before the process of scraping, or “beaming,” began; scraping away the hair and tissue from calf skins and sheep pelts; preparing the strong lime solution to loosen the remaining hair on the tougher cowhides; climbing up into the tannery loft with the processed hides and suspending the smooth, tanned leather on drying poles. And he began to read works of classical and modern history lent to him by a neighbor, making his way by candlelight through Plutarch’s Lives, Thucydides on the Peloponnesian War, accounts of Oliver Cromwell and the English Revolution, Weems’s Life of Washington, and selections from Franklin’s Poor Richard’s Almanac.

He also discovered the Bible. From earliest childhood, John had been taught to fear God and keep his commandments, but he had been too rebellious to feel the former steadily, and too troubled to do the latter regularly. Bitterness and confusion had so clouded his thoughts during Sunday church services that he had harbored serious doubts about the state and future of his soul. Owen Brown had officially joined the church just three months before Ruth’s death, a coincidence from which his son had derived no comfort. But now the boy found himself hungrily absorbing the Bible’s teachings, even memorizing its verses and taking on their cadences as easily and precisely as he acquired the skills and formulae of his father’s tanning trade.

Much of what he read, particularly the Old Testament’s story of the Exodus of the Israelites from Egypt, resonated with a new spiritual and political drama that was beginning to involve the Western Reserve directly. At the end of the War of 1812, soldiers from western Virginia and the border states between north and south, such as Kentucky, returned home from duty on the Great Lakes. Some brought stories of scenes they had witnessed in British Canada, and these stories soon began to circulate among the slaves in their communities. A haven of freedom lay just beyond the United States’ northern border, the slaves began to whisper. This Canaan was accessible by various routes, including water passage on one of the numerous tributaries of the Ohio River and overland travel through the new Ohio communities, some of whose leading citizens were rumored to hold strong antislavery views. There was new reason, too, for slaves in the northernmost slaveholding states to consider taking the terrifying step of abandoning everything and everyone they knew and risking death by starvation, exposure, drowning, or human violence to follow the north star. Cotton was enthroned as the primary business of the deep south and southwest, where the expansion and systematization of plantation production was well under way. Slaves who lived north of this region were becoming far more valuable as commodities than as laborers and understood that sooner or later they were likely to be sold.

The abolitionism of the small minority of northerners who opposed slavery on principle had been sentimental and theoretical until this moment. Now the opportunity arose for some to put it into practice. Assisted by Owen Brown, David Hudson established one of the earliest fugitive slave stations of what would later be called the Underground Railroad. Bible verses that John committed to memory confirmed his father’s courage and righteousness. “If any man say, I love God, and hateth his brother, he is a liar: for he that loveth not his brother whom he hath seen, how can he love God whom he hath not seen?” “Verily I say unto you, Inasmuch as ye did it not to one of the least of these, ye did it not to me.” “Ye shall not respect persons in judgment; but ye shall hear the small as well as the great; ye shall not be afraid of the face of man; for the judgment is God’s.”
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On March 31, 1816, John Brown, now nearly sixteen, appeared before the entire congregation of the Calvinistic Congregational Church of Hudson to seek admission to church membership in his own right. His neighbors saw a settled, mature, accomplished young man, much changed from the restless, troubled boy many of them remembered. The new minister, Mr. Hanford, conducted the religious examination and found it satisfactory. Then the deacons deliberated, prayed over their decision, and approved John Brown’s application. In fact, so impressed were they that John was invited to become the young children’s teacher in the Sunday school.

But his new appetite for study and public recognition as a Christian fueled greater ambitions. John chose instead to strike out on his own path, one his father could scarcely disapprove. He appealed to Owen to send him to school in the east, so that he could prepare for college and a career in the ministry. Owen agreed, and John and fourteen-year-old Salmon, alternately riding and walking behind the one horse their father had given them to sell in Connecticut to pay for their schooling, headed back to Torrington. They were greeted there by Jeremiah Hallock, their father’s old minister, who sent them on to Plainfield, Massachusetts, where his brother, the Reverend Moses Hallock, ran a private preparatory academy.

Brown’s fellow students at Plainfield were two to six years younger than he was. Though no one knew the Bible as thoroughly as John or was more determined to succeed, he lacked formal instruction in grammar, arithmetic, Latin, and Greek, all required for college admission. Many long, anxious nights spent squinting at the impenetrable Greek and Latin exercises that tripped off the tongues of boys half his size only impaired his vision. He was patient and self-controlled but quickly perceived that he was considered the earnest oaf, the oversized child of the wilderness who had foolishly assumed his classmates would be impressed by the smooth, hard square of leather that he had tanned himself and brought along to resole his boots with and by the string-thin strips of tanned sheepskin that he gave them to pull on, assuring them that it was too strong to break.

One afternoon, spying a strip of Brown’s sheepskin on the big table in the kitchen where his students wrote their lessons, Mr. Hallock strode across the room and playfully snatched it up. In an instant, he had wrapped its ends around his forefingers and pulled it taut between his fists. All the students stared up at the master and then at Brown, who had raised his head slowly and was looking into the teacher’s eyes.

“I shall snap it,” said Mr. Hallock, with a patronizing smile at Brown and a wink at his young son Heman, who was watching from the doorway. He waited for the young man to protest. “I shall snap it,” he said again, with a note of warning this time. Not a word or motion from Brown. Just his clear, calm gray eyes gazing into those of the minister. Hallock jerked his fists apart, brought them together and jerked them again. Then he strained for a long moment, using his arms and chest in the effort to break Brown’s trivial handiwork. Then he tossed the unsnapped sheepskin down, darted his eyes around the table, and turned away. Heman Hallock remembered for the rest of his life “the very marked yet kind immovableness of the young man’s face, on seeing father’s defeat.”









Chapter Two

A Firm Foothold at Home




“It is a source of the utmost comfort to feel that I retain a warm place in the sympathies, affections, and confidence of my own most familiar acquaintances, my family: …a man can hardly get into difficulties too big to be surmounted if he has a firm foothold at home.”

—John Brown




THERE WAS A PARTICULAR WAY, a right way, of going about each thing there was to do, he thought. There was a way it must be done if you were going to do it—if you were worthy of doing it—at all.

Six months after journeying east to school, the two Brown brothers began the five-hundred-mile return trek to Hudson. Walking with swift, stiff-legged strides, his heels absorbing the brunt of each step’s concussion and his hands clasped behind him, John Brown did not move like a sixteen-year-old boy with the spring sun rising over his shoulder and no place to be anytime soon. He looked like a man absorbed by a single thought. In the first flush of his faith, in his secret longing to be learned, Brown had imagined for himself a religious vocation. He had construed the chorus of approval with which the deacons of the little Hudson church had greeted his membership examination as his call to “Come up unto the Lord.” But he had not been properly prepared. The academic demands at Plainfield Academy—and later at Morris Academy in Litchfield, Connecticut, where Mr. Hallock had thought the Brown boys might fit in better—had proved too much, and now they were on their way home.

Still, Brown could say to himself and to his father that he had spared no effort to improve himself. Even after the eye inflammation had dashed any hope he might have had of making satisfactory progress in Greek and Latin, and the recession brought on by the “cold summer” of 1816—“eighteen-hundred-and-froze-to-death,” as the farmers named that devastating year—had deprived Owen of the means to support his sons’ education for another term, Brown had continued to persevere. There was a right way and a wrong way, whether or not success was likely. It was to teach this to Salmon that Brown took on the responsibility of chastising his younger brother when the boy flouted Morris Academy’s rules and Mr. Vaill, the young assistant master there, declined to discipline him.

“Mr Vaill,” Brown had appealed to the teacher without effect, before flogging Salmon himself later that day, “if Salmon had done the thing at home, father would have punished him. I know he would expect you to punish him now for doing this—and if you don’t, I shall.” When you committed yourself to doing each thing, however hard or unpleasant, in the way it should be done, you made yourself and others stronger, like the strip of expertly tanned sheepskin that Mr. Hallock could not snap.

Owen greeted his returning sons without a tinge of reproach, the warmth of his welcome tempered only by his customary paternal dignity and reserve. For Salmon, the boys’ time in the east had been a fine interlude, though most of the stories with which he regaled his younger siblings concerned their trials and adventures on the long return journey. Brown said little. For him, the very thing that gave Salmon so much pleasure—the fact that they were home—was a reproach. Now seventeen, Brown resumed his place in his father’s ever more crowded household and in the tannery, but he had grown estranged. In the evening, he felt more like a boarder; during the workday, like a servant.

Though he had failed as a scholar, the serious young man with his encyclopedic command of the Bible was still regarded highly by Hudson’s minister, Mr. Hanford. Once again, Brown was invited to teach the young children’s Sunday school class. Here was a position of respect and command, at least in the eyes of Brown’s prize student, a stocky five-year-old named Lora Case, whose family had purchased the old Thompson cabin a couple of miles south of town. Case admired his first Bible teacher throughout his life, wrote him a letter of support forty-two years later when Brown was awaiting execution in the Charleston jail, and received in return Brown’s last letter, written on the morning of December 2, 1859, an hour before he was hanged.

“May you ever prove yourself equal to the high estimate I have placed on you,” wrote Brown to his former pupil, sounding like a headmaster at a graduation exercise. “Pure and undefiled religion before God & the Father is as I understand it an active (not a dormant) principle.”

Brown’s immediate basis for esteeming Case was the strong antislavery sentiment that his townsman’s letter to him had expressed, but the original source of that high estimate was the young Lora Case’s perfect memorization of the Bible chapter with which Brown chose to commence his Sunday school curriculum. “Children, obey your parents in the Lord: for this is right,” begins Chapter 6 of Paul’s Epistle to the Ephesians, which then moves to the parallel case of servants, who are likewise instructed to “be obedient to them that are your masters according to the flesh.” But in both instances, the apostle promptly clarifies that masters according to the flesh derive their worldly authority from their own obedience to a higher one, in whose eyes persons young and old, poor and rich, are equal. “And, ye fathers, provoke not your children to wrath: but bring them up in the nurture and admonition of the Lord…. And, ye masters, do the same things unto them, forbearing threatening: knowing that your Master also is in heaven; neither is there any respect of persons with him.”

Ephesians 6 spoke to John Brown at seventeen: a dutiful son and apprentice who longed to be his own master, a believer who had begun to cast about for a means beyond the ministry of acting on his faith. Abruptly shifting from a sermon on passive obedience to a religious call to arms, Ephesians 6 also fired the Sunday school teacher’s vague aspiration to bolder initiatives. “Finally, my brethren, be strong in the Lord, and in the power of his might. Put on the whole armor of God, that ye may be able to stand against the wiles of the devil. For we wrestle not against flesh and blood, but against principalities, against powers, against the rulers of the darkness of this world, against spiritual wickedness in high places. Wherefore take unto you the whole armor of God, that ye may be able to withstand in the evil day, and having done all, to stand.”

Owen Brown’s tanning and cattle businesses prospered. He purchased a tract of land that included several lush hillside acres two miles north of Hudson, perfect for pasturing his growing herds, and built a larger tannery on it. To his sons Levi Blakeslee and John, Owen proposed that they live on the property, manage the new tannery, and oversee the cattle, leaving him free to pursue his land investments and civic projects. The young men eagerly agreed. Now it was John Brown’s turn to clear the ground on which he would construct his cabin, to select, fell, and trim the timber for its walls. Now he and his brother split and planed the logs for their door and floorboards, packing clay mortar into the crevices between their large fireplace cobblestones and wooden wedges surrounded by mud into each space in the cabin walls. When, in the spring of 1819, the new house hosted its first fugitive slave, Brown felt for the first time since his return from Connecticut that his own adult life was truly launched.

Trusting to instinct, rumor, and luck in the contacts with whites that happenstance or desperation made it impossible for him to avoid, the runaway could not exactly be said to have chosen the young tanner as his Hudson conductor. Still, it was John Brown’s home, not his father’s or David Hudson’s, to which Providence had directed this black man, and it was Brown who gave him provisions and protection and helped arrange for his safe transport one station closer to Canada. So vividly and often did Brown tell his children the story of the fugitive slave with the thunderous heartbeat that his eldest son, John Jr., “remembered” it later in his life as an episode in his own childhood.

[image: space]

Once again, a pattern of physical labor that he knew intimately and performed well gave shape and satisfaction to his days. In the new tannery, he held the responsibility of determining exactly how each task would be done. With Levi planning to marry and move to Wadsworth, thirty miles to the southwest, Brown took charge of the journeymen and apprentices they had begun to hire. The brisk business of the tannery and the care of his father’s cattle soon left him with little time for cooking and cleaning, domestic chores that he also enjoyed and approached no less meticulously than he did the tanning. After consulting with their father, Levi and John hired the widow of their late neighbor Amos Lusk to come daily to the cabin to prepare meals, do the washing, and spin and sew for them and for their employees. Sometimes Mrs. Lusk brought along her eighteen-year-old daughter Dianthe to assist her.

John Brown could not name or explain the emotional turmoil that young women evoked in him. Instinctively he concealed this turmoil beneath a bashful silence and an impassive expression that girls might have taken for gloominess or pride had he lingered long enough in their company to be taken for anything at all. He would have been different had his mother lived. Somehow—he was not sure how but he felt it was so—she would have smoothed the path for him between the sexes. She would have been his natural connection to the world of women. Brown thought these things but broke off such meditations before they took him any deeper into regions of confusion and pain. Whatever Ruth’s presence might have meant to him, her absence was the chasm that her adolescent son imposed, and that he longed and feared to cross, between women and himself.

It helped that Dianthe Lusk was quiet, industrious, and “remarkably plain.” Brown did not indulge in small talk. He practiced no sociable entertainments beyond arm wrestling and philosophical debate. He could neither dance a step nor play cards. While he admired neatness and cleanliness of attire and person and was even judged “tasty,” or fastidious, in his own dress, Brown’s Puritan aesthetic and his Franklinian frugality combined to condemn deliberate attention to fashion or self-adornment as wasteful and vain. Beyond these barriers to youthful flirtation and romance, the peculiar quality of Brown’s desire itself checked him from satisfying it frivolously on a woman of superficial attractiveness. The great loss of his mother on which this desire was founded demanded that he fulfill it but not cheaply. His union must be sacred.
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